## RECEIVED 01-21-2020

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2018AP1774-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALFONSO LORENZO BROOKS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Both Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether the community caretaker exception permits law enforcement to inventory and tow a vehicle after learning that the driver does not have a valid license, when the driver is not arrested and the vehicle is lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic.

The circuit court and the court of appeals answered yes.

### POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

By granting review, this Court has deemed both oral argument and publication to be appropriate.

#### INTRODUCTION

Two sheriff's deputies conducted a routine traffic stop of a vehicle driven by Alfonso Brooks. After the deputies activated their emergency lights, Mr. Brooks pulled the car over and parked by the side of the road. The place he stopped was less than two miles from his house. It was also a legal parking spot.

During the stop, the deputies learned that Mr. Brooks had a suspended driver's license, so they decided to tow his car. Before doing so, the deputies

conducted an inventory search and discovered a handgun in the trunk. The deputies then arrested Mr. Brooks for possession of a firearm by a felon.

The court of appeals held that the deputies' actions constituted a reasonable exercise of their community caretaker function. That conclusion was incorrect. At the point when the deputies decided to inventory and tow Mr. Brooks' vehicle, the car was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic. As a result, none of the concerns that are typically present in community caretaker traffic cases existed. There were no traffic ordinance violations, no public safety concerns, and no need to tow Mr. Brooks' car to permit the uninterrupted flow of traffic. Also, the deputies did not arrest Mr. Brooks as a result of the traffic stop, so he could have arranged for another driver or private tow truck to remove his car from the scene.

This Court should reverse the court of appeals and hold that the deputies' actions were improper and unreasonable under the community caretaker doctrine.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

1. The criminal complaint. According to the criminal complaint, two Milwaukee County Sheriff's deputies stopped a vehicle driven by Mr. Brooks for a speeding violation. After running a criminal history and license check, the deputies learned that Mr. Brooks had a suspended driver's license, as well

as a prior felony conviction. The deputies informed Mr. Brooks that because of his suspended license, they would need to tow the car. Before doing so, the deputies performed an inventory search and discovered a handgun in the car's trunk. (1:1-2).

2. Trial-level proceedings. Mr. Brooks ultimately pled guilty to possession of a firearm by a felon. (110:51-52). The circuit court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner, sentenced him to thirty-seven months of initial confinement and thirty months of extended supervision. (111:27-28).

Before pleading guilty, Mr. Brooks filed and litigated a motion to suppress the evidence discovered during the inventory search of the car. His motion alleged that the towing and associated inventory search were an improper exercise of law enforcement's community caretaker function. (38). Three witnesses testified at the suppression hearing: Deputy Dean Zirzow, Deputy Travis Thompson, and Mr. Brooks. (110; App. 116-58)

Deputy Zirzow testified that he stopped Mr. Brooks for driving approximately sixty-five to seventy miles per hour in a fifty miles-per-hour zone. (110:9-11, 20; App. 124-26, 135). Mr. Brooks was the sole occupant of the car. After Mr. Brooks pulled over, Deputy Zirzow obtained his driver's license and checked his license status and criminal history. The check revealed that Mr. Brooks had a suspended license and a prior felony conviction. (110:11, 14; App. 126, 129). Deputy Zirzow asserted that, under

these circumstances, his department's policies and procedures required him to have the vehicle towed because Mr. Brooks did not have a valid license and there were no other licensed drivers in the vehicle who could drive the car from the scene. (110:12; App. 127). No written policies or procedures were ever presented at the hearing.

Deputy Zirzow further testified that before towing the car, his partner, Deputy Thompson, conducted an inventory search to determine if any valuables were in the car. (110:12-13; App. 127-28). While Deputy Thompson searched the car, Deputy Zirzow issued two citations to Mr. Brooks: one for speeding and another for driving with a suspended license. (110:10, 12-13; App. 125, 127-28).

During the search, Deputy Thompson discovered a gun in the car's trunk. (110:13-14; App. 128-29). Deputy Zirzow then arrested Mr. Brooks for possession of a firearm by a felon. (110:14; App. 129).

On cross-examination, Deputy Zirzow said Mr. Brooks "begged" him not to tow the car, and instead to allow his girlfriend, Meaghan Hill, to pick the car up. (110:16; App. 131). Ms. Hill was the car's registered owner. (110:43; App. 158). Deputy Zirzow asserted that his department's policies and procedures did not allow that. He explained:

[W]e don't allow any other vehicles to come to our scene because we don't know what—that's like our work zone at that time, and we don't allow anybody else to show up because we don't know what else they're going to bring to the scene.

So if there's a valid driver—if she was in the vehicle at the time, we would allow—if she was valid, we would have allowed her to drive the vehicle. But because there's nobody else in the vehicle, we have to tow it per our policy.

(110:16; App. 131).

When asked if his policies allowed a car to remain parked and locked at the scene if it was lawfully parked, Deputy Zirzow claimed they did not:

We get that conflicting with other agencies. If somebody will get stopped by the city and, like, if they let them park on the side road, we don't do that. We either allow somebody who's valid in the car to remove it, or we have to tow it.

(110:17; App. 132).

Deputy Zirzow stated that he told Mr. Brooks he was free to leave while the inventory search was being conducted. (110:18; App. 133). He also said that Mr. Brooks remained free to leave until the gun was found. (110:18; App. 133).

Deputy Thompson testified about the nature of inventory searches.<sup>1</sup> He explained that they involve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Deputy Thompson testified during a later portion of the hearing that dealt with a separate *Miranda-Goodchild* claim raised by Mr. Brooks. (110:32-40; App. 147-55). *See Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966); *State ex rel*. (Continued)

searching each part of the vehicle to give drivers the opportunity to remove anything they might need and to protect the sheriff's department from liability claims. (110:36-38; App. 151-53).

Mr. Brooks testified that after he pulled over and gave the deputies his license, he called Ms. Hill and told her he had been pulled over. Mr. Brooks explained that Ms. Hill was driving a different car on the same route, and that she was only a few minutes behind him. (110:21-24; App. 136-39). Ms. Hill informed Mr. Brooks she would be at his location shortly. (110:24; App. 139).

Mr. Brooks further testified that after the deputies returned to his car, they told him to exit the vehicle. When he got out, the deputies told him he was not under arrest. They explained the tickets and told him they were going to tow his vehicle. (110:24-25; App. 139-40). Mr. Brooks stated he did not understand why that was necessary, as his vehicle was lawfully parked and not creating a roadside hazard. (110:25; App. 140). Deputy Zirzow told him the car had to be towed pursuant to his policies. (110:25; App. 140).

Goodchild v. Burke, 27 Wis. 2d 244, 133 N.W.2d 753 (1965). The circuit court denied that claim, and Mr. Brooks does not challenge that ruling on appeal.

The squad cam video of the traffic stop was also admitted at the hearing.<sup>2</sup> The video shows that when Mr. Brooks pulled over, he parked the car in what appears to be a lawful parking spot. (110:40; App. 155; Ex. 3 at 9:34:00 *et seq.*) It also shows that Ms. Hill arrived at the scene shortly after Mr. Brooks was stopped—before the arrival of the tow truck, but after Mr. Brooks' arrest. (Ex. 3 at 9:56:00 to 10:08:00; *see also* 110:23-24; App. 138-39).

Based on this record, the circuit court denied Mr. Brooks' suppression motion. First, the court concluded that the deputies had probable cause to stop Mr. Brooks for speeding. (110:30; App. 145). It also concluded that the impoundment and inventory search were proper based on the deputies' "protocol," as Mr. Brooks was driving with a suspended license. (110:31; App. 146).

3. Postconviction proceedings. After sentencing, Mr. Brooks filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion arguing that the circuit court erred in denying his suppression motion. Specifically, he asserted that the towing and associated inventory search were an improper and unreasonable exercise of the deputies' community caretaker function because his vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic after he pulled over. (76:5-11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The video was admitted during the *Miranda-Goodchild* potion of the hearing. (110:40; App. 155). It is nonetheless part of the record in this case.

He further argued that, to the extent the circuit court concluded that the record did not establish that his vehicle was lawfully parked, his trial attorney was ineffective for failing to present additional evidence establishing this fact at the suppression (76:12-15). In support of this claim, hearing. Mr. Brooks submitted a memorandum prepared by his attornev's investigator alleging that investigator had gone to the exact spot where Mr. Brooks parked his vehicle on the night of the stop. The investigator concluded that this location "was indeed a legal parking spot." (76:19-20).

In addition, Mr. Brooks asserted that, to the the circuit court concluded that extent impoundment and search were proper based on Deputy Zirzow's claim that he was following his department's policies and procedures, his trial attorney was also ineffective for failing to introduce the department's written policies. (76:15-17). Those policies do not authorize the towing of a vehicle just because a driver does not have a valid license. They authorize towing a vehicle when a driver is arrested. They also do not require that another licensed driver be present in the vehicle at the time of the stop to take possession of the vehicle. Rather, they require that the licensed driver be present "at the scene prior to the tow arriving."

As relevant here, the written policies provide:

#### **501.31.19** Arrest Tow

It shall be the policy of this agency to tow any vehicle *when the driver and/or owner is arrested* and no responsible person is present, at the time of the arrest, to take control of the vehicle.

#### Procedure:

- The vehicle will be towed by a contracted towing agency.
- The owner of the vehicle, if arrested, may give a licensed driver permission to drive his/her vehicle from the scene of the arrest. In that case, the vehicle need not be towed. The arrest report will list who removed the vehicle. The person taking control of the vehicle must be at the scene prior to the tow arriving.
- Before removing an arrestee from the scene, ask them if the vehicle contains any items of value. Include this information in a separate paragraph of your arrest report. Inventory items consistent with division and agency policy.
- Officers will search all vehicles prior to being towed.
- If a vehicle is towed, the ignition key will go with the vehicle.

(76:23-23; App. 159-60 (emphasis added)).

In its response brief, the State argued that the impoundment and inventory search were a reasonable exercise of the deputies' community caretaker function for three reasons—first, the deputies could not permit Mr. Brooks to drive the car

Page 17 of 54

because he did not have a license; second, the deputies could not allow a third party to come to the scene for safety reasons; and third, even if the deputies were going to leave the car where it was, an inventory search was necessary to protect the sheriff's department from claims of wrongdoing. (78:1-3; App. 111-13). The State, however, never disputed Mr. Brooks' claim that the vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic. (See 78:1-5; App. 111-15).

The circuit court issued a decision and order denying Mr. Brooks' postconviction motion without a hearing. The court did not make any factual findings regarding whether Mr. Brooks' vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic. Instead, it noted that the State had argued "that the search and towing of the defendant's vehicle [were] a proper exercise of the community caretaker function and that it was a reasonable decision both for safety reasons and to protect the department from any claims of wrongdoing concerning the contents of the vehicle." (85: App. 110). The circuit court adopted these arguments without providing any additional reasoning. (85; App. 110).

4. The court of appeals. On appeal, the court of appeals affirmed the judgment and postconviction decision of the circuit court. First, the court held that the deputies were exercising a bona fide community caretaker role when they impounded and searched Mr. Brooks' vehicle. (COA Op. ¶16; App. 106-07). In support of that conclusion, the court noted that

Page 18 of 54

Mr. Brooks did not have a valid driver's license, he was not the car's registered owner, and there were no other drivers immediately present to take possession of the car. (Id.; App. 106-07). It also noted that Deputy Zirzow had testified he could not permit Mr. Brooks to call his girlfriend to retrieve the car because, according to his department's policies, other vehicles were not allowed at the scene for safety reasons. (*Id.*; App. 107). Thus, according to the court of appeals, "[t]here was no way for police to anticipate when Brooks' driving privileges would be restored and he, or someone else, would be able to collect the car." (Id.; App. 107 (quoting State's COA Resp. Br. at 15)).

The court of appeals further held that the deputies reasonably exercised their community caretaker function. (Id., ¶17; App. 107). First, the court stated the public had an interest in officer safety, and Deputy Zirzow had testified that his policies did not allow him to permit Mr. Brooks to have someone else pick the car up because of officer safety reasons. (*Id.*, ¶18; App. 107-08).

Second, the court concluded that the seizure reasonable because of the following was circumstances: the deputies did not use force; they told Mr. Brooks he was free to leave during the search; and, to the extent the deputies violated their internal policies, this Court had concluded that law enforcement officers are "not required to abide by a specific policy in rendering their decision to tow the vehicle." (Id., ¶19; App. 108 (citing State v. Asboth,

2017 WI 76, ¶¶27-28, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 898 N.W.2d 541)).

Finally, the court of appeals concluded that there were no reasonable alternatives to impounding In this respect, the court noted that the car. Mr. Brooks was alone in the vehicle, he was not the car's registered owner, and neither the owner nor any other licensed drivers were immediately present to take possession of the vehicle. The court of appeals acknowledged that the deputies could have allowed Mr. Brooks' girlfriend to pick up the car at a later time, but it concluded that the Fourth Amendment did not require them to do so. (Id., ¶20; App. 108). The court also concluded that leaving the vehicle on the side of the road for an indeterminate amount of time could have invited theft and vandalism. (Id.; App. 108).

#### ARGUMENT

I. Because Mr. Brooks had not been arrested and his vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic, the towing and associated inventory search of the vehicle constituted improper an unreasonable exercise of the deputies' community caretaker function.

The deputies' decision to tow and inventory Mr. Brooks' car was both unreasonable and unnecessary. Although Mr. Brooks did not have a valid license, his vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic. He also had not been arrested, so he could have arranged for another licensed driver to drive the car from the scene. There was thus no legitimate community caretaker justification for towing his car.

A. Standard of review and general legal principles.

In reviewing a motion to suppress, this Court applies a two-step standard of review. *State v. Martin*, 2012 WI 96, ¶28, 343 Wis. 2d 278, 816 N.W.2d 270. First, it upholds the trial court's findings of fact unless clearly erroneous. Second, it independently reviews whether the facts meet the applicable constitutional standard. *Id*.

The right to be free from unreasonable searches seizures isguaranteed the Fourth and by Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Wisconsin courts generally follow the United States Supreme Court's interpretation of the Fourth Amendment in construing Article I, § 11. State v. Betterly, 191 Wis. 2d 406, 417, 529 N.W.2d 216 (1995). The Fourth Amendment governs all police intrusions, including automobile searches seizures. See South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364, 367 (1976); Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶14. Where an unlawful search or seizure occurs, the remedy is usually to suppress the evidence it produced. State v. Washington, 2005 WI App 123, ¶10, 284 Wis. 2d 456,

700 N.W.2d 305; Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88 (1963).

"A seizure conducted without a valid warrant is presumptively unreasonable." State v. Brereton, 2013 WI 17, ¶24, 345 Wis. 2d 563, 826 N.W.2d 369 (citing United States v. Ross, 456 U.S. 798, 824-25 (1982)). However, "[b]ecause the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is 'reasonableness,' the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions." Brigham City v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2006). "These exceptions have been 'jealously and carefully drawn,' and the burden rests with those seeking exemption from the warrant requirement to prove that the exigencies made that course imperative." State v. Lee, 2009 WI App 96, ¶6, 320 Wis. 2d 536, 771 N.W.2d 373.

The only warrant exception that the State asserts in this case with respect to the seizure and of Mr. Brooks' impoundment vehicle is the community caretaker exception.<sup>3</sup> (See State's COA Resp. Br. at 7-24). This exception recognizes that law may conduct enforcement officers warrantless searches and seizures when "serving as a community

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The State also asserts that the inventory exception applies with respect to the search of Mr. Brooks' vehicle. (State's COA Resp. Br. at 8). Of course, if the seizure/impoundment was unconstitutional, the associated inventory search would be unconstitutional, as well. See State v. Clark, 2003 WI App 121, ¶11, 265 Wis. 2d 557, 666 N.W.2d 112.

caretaker to protect persons and property." State v. Pinkard, 2010 WI 81, ¶14, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592. Community caretaker functions involve actions that are "totally divorced from the detection, investigation, or acquisition of evidence relating to the violation of a criminal statute." State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶¶19-20, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598.

When evaluating claimed a community caretaker justification for a warrantless search or seizure, Wisconsin courts apply a three-step test, which asks:

- (1) Whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment has occurred;
- (2) if so, whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function; and
- (3) if so, whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised.

Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶13. "Overriding this entire process is the fundamental consideration that any warrantless intrusion must be as limited as is reasonably possible, consistent with the purpose justifying it in the first instance." State v. Anderson, 142 Wis. 2d 162, 169 n.4, 417 N.W.2d 411 (1987).

B. Mr. Brooks' vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic.

As noted above, the circuit court did not make factual findings concerning whether explicit Mr. Brooks' vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic. Instead, the court adopted the arguments contained in the State's postconviction response brief. Nowhere in that brief did the State dispute Mr. Brooks' chief argument that his vehicle was lawfully parked and not obstructing traffic. (78; App. 111-15). In fact, the State specifically stated that it "did not dispute the facts or procedural history as outlined in" Mr. Brooks' postconviction motion. (78:1; App. 111). This included the assertion that the "video shows that when Mr. Brooks pulled his vehicle over, he parked the car in what appears [to be] a lawful parking spot." (76:5).

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