RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-21-2019

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN** DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP1774-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALFONSO LORENZO BROOKS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly denied Brooks' suppression motion because the tow and associated inventory search of the car were reasonable exercises of the police's community caretaking function.

A. Standard of review

"Whether evidence should be suppressed is a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Floyd*, 2017 WI 78, ¶ 11, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560 (citation omitted). Under this standard, this Court will uphold the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id*. This Court reviews independently the court's application of constitutional principles to those facts. *Id*.

B. Relevant law

The federal and state constitutions do not protect against all warrantless searches and seizures, but only unreasonable ones. *State v. Pinkard*, 2010 WI 81, ¶ 13, 327 Wis. 2d 346, 785 N.W.2d 592 (the ultimate standard set forth in the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness).

The Supreme Court of the United States and the Wisconsin Supreme Court have recognized an exception to

the warrant requirement "where a law enforcement officer is 'serving as a community caretaker to protect persons and property." *State v. Asboth*, 2017 WI 76, ¶ 12, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 898 N.W.2d 541 (citation omitted). Similarly, the courts have recognized that "[a]lthough an inventory search is a 'search' within the meaning of the [F]ourth [A]mendment, it is also a well-defined exception to the warrant requirement." *State v. Weber*, 163 Wis. 2d 116, 132, 471 N.W.2d 187 (1991) (citation omitted).

"When evaluating a claimed community caretaker justification for a warrantless search or seizure, Wisconsin courts apply a three-step test" Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 13. The court first evaluates "whether a search or seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment occurred." Id. (citation omitted). If so, the court then determines "whether the police were exercising a bona fide community caretaker function." Id. (citation omitted). If they were, the court evaluates "whether the public interest outweighs the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual such that the community caretaker function was reasonably exercised." Id. (citation omitted).

The mere possibility that police could have allowed a defendant to make alternative arrangements does not render a tow or related inventory search unconstitutional. As the Supreme Court has explained, "reasonable police regulations relating to inventory procedures administered in good faith satisfy the Fourth Amendment, even though courts might as a matter of hindsight be able to devise equally reasonable rules requiring a different procedure." *Colorado v. Bertine*, 479 U.S. 367, 375–76 (1987).

However, "compliance with an internal police department policy does not, in and of itself, guarantee the reasonableness of a search or seizure." *State v. Clark*, 2003 WI App 121, ¶ 14, 265 Wis. 2d 557, 666 N.W.2d 112. "Rather, the constitutionality of each search or seizure will, generally, depend upon its own individual facts." *Id*.

"The essential question is whether the action of the law enforcement officer was reasonable under all the facts and circumstances present." *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 23, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (citation omitted).

C. The tow and related search of Brooks' car were reasonable pursuant to *Asboth*; therefore, there was no Fourth Amendment violation.

The State does not dispute that the tow was a seizure of Brooks' vehicle within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. (Brooks' Br. 16.) That, however, is where Brooks' meritorious contentions end. This case is squarely controlled by *Asboth*, which, as Respondent will show in sections C.1.-4., disposes of Brooks' claim.

1. The Wisconsin Supreme Court's opinion in *State v. Asboth*

In Asboth, police arrested the defendant, Kenneth Asboth, at a storage facility, where the car he was driving was parked in an alley between two storage sheds. Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 3. None of the officers asked if Asboth could arrange to have the car moved, and space remained available for cars to maneuver around it through the alley. *Id.* ¶ 4. An officer ran a check of the car's registration and learned that Asboth did not own the car. *Id.* Police impounded the car and conducted an inventory search, during which they found evidence implicating Asboth in an armed robbery. *Id.* ¶ 6.

Like Brooks, Asboth claimed that the seizure of the car was unconstitutional because "it was not conducted pursuant to sufficiently detailed standardized criteria or justified by a bona fide community caretaker purpose." 4 Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, \P 9.

Asboth first argued that in South Dakota v. Opperman, 428 U.S. 364 (1976), the Supreme Court limited the objectively reasonable bases to tow a car under the community caretaking function to those situations where the vehicle has been involved in an accident or impedes the efficient movement of traffic. Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 664, ¶ 17. Second, relying on Bertine, Asboth claimed that "an impoundment will be constitutionally valid only if governed by 'standard criteria' set forth in law enforcement procedures." Id. ¶ 22.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court disagreed with both contentions.

Regarding the community caretaker function, it first noted that the situations described in *Opperman* were "nonexclusive examples" of situations where police lawfully take custody of vehicles under their community caretaker function; it then assessed the particular facts of the case. *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 16. It found the tow a reasonable exercise of that function for three reasons:

First, Asboth's car was impeding beneficial use of the storage facility by blocking a storage unit and making it difficult for vehicles to drive through the alley. *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 18.

Second, police had no way of knowing when Asboth would be released from custody or able to provide

⁴ In Asboth, the police departments involved in the incident had written procedures for towing vehicles; Asboth claimed that the written policies were not specific enough to validate the search. State v. Asboth, 2017 WI 76, ¶¶ 5, 22, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 898 N.W.2d 541.

arrangements for the car, therefore "[i]mpounding rather than abandoning Asboth's car protected the vehicle and its contents from potential theft or vandalism in his absence." *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 19. The court specifically noted that "the impoundment's protective function undermines Asboth's argument that the officers could have towed the car somewhere other than the police station; his car likely would have faced greater risk of vandalism or theft if abandoned in a public place." *Id.* ¶ 19. "Asboth no doubt would have been upset to learn that his personal property was stolen from the car—regardless of whether officers decided to abandon it at the storage facility or in some other public place." *Id.*

Finally, the court noted that Asboth was not the registered owner of the car. *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 20. "With no one else immediately present claiming ownership or otherwise available to take possession of the vehicle, the possibility existed that officers would need to make arrangements to reunite the car with its registered owner." *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 20.

Having found that the police had a bona fide community caretaker function, the court moved to whether the seizure was reasonable. *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, $\P\P$ 22–30.

The court first rejected the notion that *Bertine* stood for the proposition that an impoundment is "constitutionally valid only if governed by 'standard criteria' set forth in law enforcement procedures." Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 22. The court noted the federal circuit split on the issue, and adopted the position of the First, Third, and Fifth Circuits, holding: "the absence of standard criteria does not by default render a warrantless community caretaker impoundment unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment reasonableness standard. Nor does law enforcement officers' lack of adherence to standard criteria, if they exist, automatically render such impoundments unconstitutional." Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, $\P\P$ 27–28. Rather, the standard remains simply reasonableness, though "a Wisconsin court may consider the existence of, and officers' adherence to, standard criteria as a relevant factor when assessing the reasonableness of a community caretaker seizure." *Id.* \P 29.

The court then engaged in the third step of Wisconsin's community caretaker test, "balancing the public interest or need that is furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree of and nature of the restriction upon the liberty interest of the citizen." *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 30.

The court applied the four-factor test articulated in *State v. Kramer*, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 40, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598, considering: 1) the degree of public interest and exigency of the situation; 2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, such as time, location, and the degree of authority displayed; 3) whether a vehicle is involved; and 4) the availability, feasibility, and effectiveness of alternatives to the intrusion. *Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 30.

The court found that under that test, the tow and inventory search were reasonable. Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 36. It first acknowledged that Asboth had a lesser expectation of privacy in a car than he would in a home. Id. \P 31. Next, it determined the officers served a legitimate public interest in seizing a vehicle that, left unattended, would inconvenience the property's owner and create a potential hazard by obstructing traffic through the facility. Id. \P 32. Third, it determined that the circumstances surrounding the seizure reflected its reasonableness: the officers complied with the terms of the department procedures governing impoundments, which actually cabined the officer's exercise of discretion of when to tow a car. Id. ¶ 34. Finally, it determined there was a lack of reasonable alternatives because Asboth "did not have a companion who could immediately take possession of the

car." *Id.* ¶ 35. And in doing so, it rejected the notion that the officers had to offer Asboth the opportunity to make other arrangements to comply with the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* ¶ 35.

2. The State did not, and does not, concede that Brooks' car was lawfully parked, but whether it was is irrelevant.

As a preliminary matter, the State did not concede that Brooks' car was lawfully parked and does not do so now. (Brooks' Br. 14.) And the record is far from "uncontradicted in this respect." (Brooks' Br. 14.)

Brooks' self-serving testimony that he told the officers that it was unnecessary to tow his vehicle because it was allegedly lawfully parked is insufficient to establish it was. (Brooks' Br. 14–15.) Nor does the squad-car video establish that the car was not "interrupting the flow of traffic." (Brooks' Br. 15.) Indeed, the video shows that Brooks' car is parked far from the curb, and several vehicles that drive by have to enter the other lane to avoid the officers' and Brooks' car. (*See, e.g.*, Ex. 3, 9:34:07–16.)

Ultimately, though, the State did not address that contention, and the circuit court did not need to make findings of fact on it, because such a finding was not necessary to decide the issue.

The Supreme Court of the United States and the Wisconsin Supreme Court have expressly rejected the argument that a tow and inventory search of a car is rendered unconstitutional simply because the police could have allowed the defendant to lock the car and leave it in a public parking place. *Bertine*, 479 U.S. at 375–76 ("Nothing in [the Supreme Court's inventory search cases] prohibits the exercise of police discretion [in how to deal with a vehicle to be left unattended] so long as that discretion is exercised

according to standard criteria and on the basis of something other than suspicion of evidence of criminal activity");⁵ cf. Asboth, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 26 (Police "must be free to follow 'sound police procedure,' that is to choose freely among the available options, so long as the option chosen is within the universe of reasonable choices" (quoting United States v. Coccia, 446 F.3d 233, 239 (1st Cir. 2006))); see also United States v. Staller, 616 F.2d 1284, 1290–91 (5th Cir. 1980) (the fact that the defendant's car was legally parked in a mall parking lot did not render impounding the car an unreasonable exercise of the community caretaker function).

As the Fourth Circuit explained, "[t]he question . . . is not whether there was a need for the police to impound [Brooks'] vehicle but, rather, whether the police officer[s'] decision to impound was reasonable under the circumstances." *United States v. Brown*, 787 F.2d 929, 932 (4th Cir. 1986). In other words, it does not matter if the car was lawfully parked. What matters is whether the police reasonably towed and searched it, even assuming it *was* lawfully parked. As Respondent will show below, they did.

3. The deputies possessed a bona fide community caretaker justification for impounding the car.

Like in *Asboth*, here the officers possessed a bona fide community caretaker justification for impounding the car Brooks was driving.

First, Brooks was pulled over on a side street roughly two miles from his home, in a mixed residential and

⁵ There is nothing in the record even suggesting that the police towed and searched the car because they suspected evidence of criminal activity, and Brooks makes no argument that police towed the car for some ulterior investigative motive.

commercial area. (R. 1:1.) The car was parked far from the curb, potentially impeding traffic along the side street, and it was far enough away from Brooks' residence that it could be difficult for a member of his household to retrieve it expeditiously if any issues with the car arose.

Second, Brooks did not have a valid driver license, and there was no one else on scene who did who could drive the car away. There was no way for police to anticipate when Brooks' driving privileges would be restored and he, or someone else, would be able to collect the car. *Cf. Asboth*, 376 Wis. 2d 644, ¶ 19. The officers therefore made a reasonable decision to tow it based on the facts they had at that moment, and subsequent events—such as Ms. Hill's later arrival at the scene—do not make that decision less reasonable.

Even assuming that Brooks had told the deputies that his girlfriend was already on the way to the scene, the officers would have no way to know whether or not she was actually coming, or, if so, when she would arrive, or if she actually had a valid license, or if she may be dangerous to police.⁶ And, contrary to his testimony at the suppression

⁶ The State fails to understand Brooks' claim that Ms. Hill's spontaneous arrival on the scene makes the "underlying premise" of the officers' safety rationale for refusing to permit invitations for unknown parties to come to traffic stops "questionable." (Brooks' Br. 23.) Obviously, the officers could not *prevent* third parties from approaching the scene, and when Ms. Hill arrived, Zirzow immediately told her that she needed to leave. (Ex. 3, 9:56:31–35.) Further, the State does not comprehend how the fact that she appeared "prior to the tow truck arriving" could be relevant to the analysis here. (Brooks' Br. 23.) Both the tow truck and Ms. Hill arrived long after police had already found the gun and placed Brooks under arrest. The fact that police could conceivably have released the car to Hill once she arrived adds nothing to the Fourth Amendment question because the search

hearing, at no point on the squad car video does Brooks tell police that his girlfriend was on the way; rather, he begs the officers not to tow the car because he has no money, tells Zirzow that "y'all ain't have to do me like this," and asks if "she could call her sister or something," to which Zirzow answers that per policy he cannot let someone else come to the scene. (Ex. 3, 9:47:00–948:42). In any event, it would be unreasonable to force the police to stand around waiting on the side of the road for a person who may or may not be arriving, and who may or may not be dangerous if he or she did arrive.

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